## TOWARD A THEORY OF PRACTICAL DRIFT IN TEAMS

by

## TIFFANY M. BISBEY

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Honors in the Major Program in Psychology in the College of Sciences and in the Burnett Honors College at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Spring Term, 2014

Thesis Chair: Eduardo Salas, Ph.D.

### ABSTRACT

Practical drift is defined as the unintentional adaptation of routine behaviors from written procedure. The occurrence of practical drift can result in catastrophic disaster in high-reliability organizations (e.g. the military, emergency medicine, space exploration). Given the lack of empirical research on practical drift, this research sought to develop a better understanding by investigating ways to assess and stop the process in high-reliability organizations. An introductory literature review was conducted to investigate the variables that play a role in the occurrence of practical drift in teams. Research was guided by the input-throughput-output model of team adaptation posed by Burke, Stagl, Salas, Pierce, and Kendall (2006). It demonstrates relationships supported by the results of the literature review and the Burke and colleagues (2006) model denoting potential indicators of practical drift in teams. Research centralized on the core processes and emergent states of the adaptive cycle; namely, shared mental models, team situation awareness, and coordination. The resulting model shows the relationship of procedure-practice coupling demands misfit and maladaptive violations of procedure being mediated by shared mental models, team situation awareness, and coordination. Shared mental models also lead to team situation awareness, and both depict a mutual, positive relationship with coordination. The cycle restarts when an error caused by maladaptive violations of procedure creates a greater misfit between procedural demands and practical demands.

This movement toward a theory of practical drift in teams provides a conceptual framework and testable propositions for future research to build from, giving practical avenues to predict and

ii

prevent accidents resulting from drift in high-reliability organizations. Suggestions for future research are also discussed, including possible directions to explore. By examining the relationships reflected in the new model, steps can be taken to counteract organizational failures in the process of practical drift in teams.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to all of those who have mentored me throughout my undergraduate experience. First and foremost, I owe much of my current and future successes to Dr. Eduardo Salas for beginning my career in research by providing countless opportunities (and obstacles) to learn from that few students see before graduate school. I am grateful for your effort in making me a researcher, and for having the confidence in me to handle whatever I may be juggling. Thank you for articulating what I could only conceptualize, and most of all, for the constant reminder that nothing worth having comes easily.

Thank you to Dr. Carol Saunders and Dr. Dana Joseph for all of the helpful insight and advice that you have given throughout the course of this thesis. The time you have given to read drafts, have meetings, and provide feedback does not go unnoticed.

I would also like to thank Dr. Mark Neider for his guidance and for teaching me to think critically. Working in your lab is where I found my potential and realized what I want in a graduate program. You are the perfect example of what every advisor should be and your dedication to your students' success shows in everything you do.

Also, a special thank you to the graduate students who have given me immeasurable advice in all facets of my personal and professional life: Nastassia Savage, Alyssa Hess, Joanna Lewis, Adam Emfield, and Ashley Hughes. You are all destined for greatness and I would not be anywhere near where I am today without you all.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION 1
Practical Drift
METHOD 10
LITERATURE REVIEW 12
Organizational Safety Theories12
Culture/Climate15
Models of Fit17
Violations of Procedure
Adaptation19
Shared Mental Models and Team Situation Awareness
Coordination
Mutual monitoring and backup behavior26
Systems monitoring
Communication
Shared Mental Models, Team Situation Awareness, and Coordination
DISCUSSION
CONCLUSION
Future Implications
Secondary Variables
REFERENCES

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Team relationshi	p to one another in each system	

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Snook's Theoretical Matrix of Practical Drift	5
Figure 2. Input-Throughput-Output Model of Adaptive Team Performance	20
Figure 3. The proposed Model of Practical Drift in Teams	32

### **INTRODUCTION**

April of 1994 was supposed to be a time of peace after warfare; moving on from Operation Desert Storm, and ending casualties resulting from combat. Instead, 26 men and women of the American Armed Forces and its allies lost their lives in a friendly fire shoot-down of two UH-60 Black Hawk helicopters (Snook, 2000). This left many to question the cause of the accident. The United States Military has a reputation for precision and elite intelligence. Pilot error is a questionable explanation for such a disciplined organization.

On February 1, 2003, the United States Space Shuttle Colombia disintegrated upon reentrance of the Earth's atmosphere, claiming the lives of all seven crew members. The physical cause of the accident was determined to be from seven months prior when a piece of debris ripped off of the heating tank during launch, damaging the Thermal Protection System. This tragically caused the shuttle's infrastructure to melt from the inside-out, breaking apart across the southern coast of the United States almost immediately on reentrance. This technical cause was reported to be in conjunction with organizational issues NASA had been experiencing; including situational constraints, shifting priorities, and the evolution of designed procedures (Colombia Accident Investigation Board [CAIB], 2003). The damage seemed unpredictable; though this event was preceded by similar misfortunes, including the Apollo 1 test-capsule fire in 1967 and the Challenger disaster in 1986.

On April 20, 2010 the explosion of the *Deepwater Horizon* drilling rig began what is arguably the worst environmental disaster in history, when four million barrels of oil emptied into the Gulf of Mexico. This infamous disaster is known as the BP Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill.

1

It has resulted in eleven casualties and colossal damage to the Gulf's habitat and ecosystem. The explosion resulted from a series of faulty safety provisions that were caused by poor decision making, ignoring procedural checks and balances, and making fatal compromises ("National Commission", 2011).

These world-recognized disasters all implicate a systematic drift in designated procedures; a failure so dangerously imperceptible, that an organization as thoroughly refined as the U.S. Armed Forces has been victimized—a frightening reality. This underhanded phenomenon is known as practical drift—the unintended, systematic adaptation of routine practice from written procedure (Snook, 2000).

In a vast oversight by the scientific community, this phenomenon has lacked direct, empirical research, forming a gap in expedient literature. The International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO, 2009) suggests that practical drift may be controlled *reactively* by analyzing errors after they have occurred, avoided *proactively* by analyzing operations and identifying current risks before approaching failure, or prevented *predictively* by recognizing precursors. While the goal of this stream of research is to *predict* the occurrence of practical drift, all information to this date has been gathered *reactively* in response to accidents. Because this area of study is still in its infancy, all of the factors involved in the process have yet to be uncovered. This thesis begins the process of preventing practical drift *proactively* by attempting to uncover these unknown variables and establish an introductory model to be expanded upon by future interdisciplinary research. This study is an effort to close the vast gap in research with a solid foundation that encourages subsequent investigation. The results are the first of its kind, theorizing a model of fit for the process of practical drift. The main focus is to further understand practical drift in teams that operate in high-reliability contexts, and to develop a theoretical model incorporating what is known about practical drift with variables of team adaptation. Relationships depicted in the model will be presented as testable propositions to stimulate future research. The lack of research on practical drift has resulted in wide unfamiliarity of the concept. Accordingly, a detailed description of the theory leads this review.

#### **Practical Drift**

Each organization creates and enforces protocols to ensure standardized employee actions and appropriate procedures. Many organizations assign roles to each member and each team in pursuit of a common goal. In some cases, the task of one team must be completed successfully in order for another team's task to be successful. These highly interdependent teams must follow the protocol and set procedures to ensure the successful achievement of shared goals. Oftentimes, employees will stray from the originally designed procedure by altering their methods to meet the various demands of situational circumstances (Stolte, Vogt, & Weber, 2010). In some industries, straying from standard protocol could result in innovation and reassessment of current methods; but in high-reliability organizations, the consequences can be dangerous and potentially fatal (Feldman & Pentland, 2003). Due to the particularly destructive concern, this research centralizes on high-reliability organizations, those in which risk is high and highly interdependent teams are tasked with strict (often lengthy) procedural protocol; yielding a tightly coupled system. Further discussion of 'coupling' is provided in a later section (see pages 11-12).

3

Any operational deviation has the potential to result in catastrophe. A slight lapse can have unideal consequences, but an undetected evolution of accepted practice can be much more treacherous. As the steps of a maladapted practice solidify into a completely different method, a poorly redesigned process with a false sense of security is enforced. This evolution of procedure to a maladapted practice is referred to as practical drift.

In Scott A. Snook's publication of Friendly Fire (2000), he introduces the term 'practical drift' and credits it as a key factor in the accidental shoot-down of United States Army Black Hawks by United States Air Force F-15s in Iraq following the Gulf War (see page 1). Practical drift, also described as procedural drift (Johnston, 2003), is defined as "the slow, steady uncoupling of practice from written procedure" (Snook, 2000). Any separation from a standardized process that is long-lasting, gradual, and unintentionally progressive toward a certain path can be classified as a case of practical drift (Stolte et al., 2010). This path dependence characterizes the pattern, making it more likely to reoccur and habituate (Pentland, Feldman, Becker, & Liu, 2012). Practical drift is essentially the process of solidifying a maladapted, routine practice that transpires when procedural demands do not match situational demands continuously. Overtime, many written procedures go unused and are unnoticeably eliminated from everyday routine; personnel find more efficient ways to complete tasks independently in their local situations, effectively eliminating the reliance on others; each local adaptation adding up and interplaying to create a new standard. The gradual development of this new locally adapted practice is practical drift.

Snook's Theoretical Matrix of Practical Drift (Figure 1) demonstrates the progression of drifting procedure while taking into account conditional context. The vertical axis represents the level of interdependence between the units<sup>1</sup> involved. The horizontal axis represents the shift in cognitive paradigm from rule-based to taskbased. The circling arrows at the center are



Figure 1. Snook's Theoretical Matrix of Practical Drift

essential to exhibit the progressive and continuous pattern of the model, signifying the temporal aspect of practical drift. The quadrants labeled as 'stable' are such because the logic of action yields practice that matches the level of interdependence required by the situation (Snook, 2000). The matrix will be used as a guide to explain the process of practical drift in detail.

Quadrant 1 represents the design phase of a procedure. In the design of rules and procedures, creators often account for worst-case scenarios to manage all risks and avoid being liable for any errors (Leemann, 2011). Developing an extensive protocol seems understandable when the consequences of failure have the potential to be fatal; nobody wants to be blamed for an accident caused by lax rules, so most err on the side of over-inclusion (Snook, 2000). Rules are thus created in a comprehensive manner to account for all potential risks. Extensive procedures are developed with tightly interwoven systems in effort to create as many fail-safes as possible (Macey, 2011). Teams in high-reliability organizations rely heavily on each other's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The term 'unit' is used so as not to restrict the process of practical drift to solely individuals, teams, their relationships to the organization, or each to other. This study focuses specifically on practical drift in teams.

actions for goal completion; so the error of one team produces a chain-reaction across all other teams to unhinge all planned fail-safes (this comes later in quadrant 4).

Progression to quadrant 2 represents personnel abiding by written procedure as it has been designed, even though daily circumstance rarely calls for each step and procedure included in the extensive list of demands. The worst-case scenarios these rules are based upon are typically not encountered on a regular basis. As personnel experience on the job increases, the unnecessary requirements become more apparent (Snook, 2000). In short, the rules in their entirety do not apply to the operational environment. This unfit model creates an unstable dynamic that creates role strain as personnel are faced with fulfilling procedural demands or situational demands. This results in adaptation that solidifies as practical drift in the progression to quadrant 3.

The third quadrant marks the shift from following the rules, to adapting the rules in reaction to situational demands. The strain between what is called for and what is necessary causes the instability in quadrant 2, creating a need for adaptation (Snook, 2000). Teams need to adapt constantly in order to match the dynamic nature of modern demands (Burke, Stagl, Salas, Pierce, & Kendall, 2006). Personnel develop adapted methods of goal completion that are more apt to the everyday norm. This quadrant is stable because there is no pressure to change—the situational demands and the adapted practice are in sync and functioning efficiently. At this point, routine formation happens very rapidly and the adapted practice becomes first-nature (Gersick & Hackman, 1990). Each day without an incident, the modified practice becomes reinforced, stored, and solidified as procedural memory (Cohen & Bacdayan, 1994). Defense

Nuclear Facilities Safety Board member R. Bruce Matthews (2005) points out that this downtime is critically misleading to personnel, positing that the habitual use of a modified routine leads to the erosion of organizational formality by diminishing system control. At this point in the process, fail-safes set in place to mitigate accidents will not work properly because they depend on all interdependent teams following designed procedures (Snook, 2000). Operators are unaware of how close they are to system failure as practice moves further away from protocol—imperceptibly distancing them from their safety net with each adaptation. If an emergency were to occur, would all personnel be where they are supposed to be, doing what they are supposed to be doing? Emergencies do not occur every day, though this is what the procedures were designed for. Unfortunately, progression to the unstable forth quadrant in Snook's (2000) Matrix ensues when these "stochastic" events do occur and system failure results. This is where what seemed to be an efficient adaptation is revealed to be maladaptive.

When emergency situations arise, team member interdependence correspondingly increases and coordination becomes essential to team functioning (Orasanu, 1994). As the situation requires more interdependence, the designed procedure that was originally intended to mediate risks is unpracticed and unfamiliar, inconveniently, when it is needed most. Events that spark these failures are rare, but will eventually arise and display all technical errors as mistakes align (Perrow, 1984; Reason, 1990; Stolte et al., 2010). When the inevitable event occurs, personnel are forced to assume that interdependent others are abiding by designed procedure, even though they themselves often abide by their local adaptation (Snook, 2000). This failed

7

assumption is what history has shown to result in catastrophe—including friendly fire shootdowns, space shuttle disasters, and oil rig explosions.

To summarize, quadrant 1 represents the design phase of procedures, quadrant 2 represents units following designed procedures in a practical setting, quadrant 3 represents units creating and reinforcing adapted methods, and quadrant 4 represents system failure. Natural response to correct a mistake is overcorrection (Dekker, 2011). This means adding to the written procedure, effectively restarting the process as the distance increases between procedural demands and practical demands. Written procedure is revisited and redesigned under the premise of a recently failed system. After this history of dramatic failures, it should be apparent that creating tighter procedures is not the best option. There are an infinite number of responses to the infinite number of events that could arise in daily operations; rule-makers are unlikely to account for or incorporate a procedure for each possibility. The procedures of teams in high-reliability organizations should not be so heavily reliant upon each other when it is not necessary because they will eventually purge excess effort that is blocking the effectiveness of daily operations.

Organizations utilize teams to accomplish more complex tasks that would be ineffective or impossible to accomplish individually. Team members depend on each other to achieve shared goals while being adaptive and dynamic (Salas, Dickenson, Converse, & Tannenbaum, 1992). Teams that operate specifically in dynamic environments, such as those in highreliability organizations, must have a special skill set to achieve successful performance. These unique teams are known as *action teams* and they require the ability to quickly respond to and

8

influence the situation in which they interact (Marks, Zaccaro, & Mathieu, 2000). The key to effectiveness in action teams is the ability to "dynamically adapt" with performance conditions as they change (Coovert, Craiger, & Cannon-Bowers, 1996; Kozlowski, Gully, McHugh, Salas, & Cannon-Bowers, 1996; Marks et al., 2000). As teams are a focal point of high-reliability organizations, the emphasis of this research is on how practical drift occurs in teams.

To end the maladaptive cycle of practical drift in teams, its components must be first understood. Empirical research is necessary to determine the procedure—practical environment fit that produces the most effective setting for team performance; because the less apt the procedures are to the environment, the more likely personnel will adapt them and risk causing a disaster (Snook, 2000). The goal of this study is to uncover variables involved in this process in teams of high-reliability organizations in effort to find measurable indicators and to provide avenues for future research of predicting and preventing this maladaptation.

#### **METHOD**

This research is the first of its kind, cross-referencing practical drift with adaptation literature to offer an introductory investigation of potential variables in the process of practical drift in teams of high-reliability organizations, and to develop an initial model demonstrating relationships among the variables. The model is influenced by the Burke and colleagues (2006) model of adaptive team performance and it reflects progress toward a theory that explains the process of practical drift using coordination and shared mental models to support the effect of procedural—practical demand fit on this form of maladaptation.

Research began with a review of organizational safety theories to gain an understanding of the nature of human error in the workplace. This was followed by an interdisciplinary literature review of empirical and theoretical research of high-reliability organizations along with the components in the process of practical drift. This was then integrated with the results of an additional literature review of adaptive team performance. Relevant literature was collected from the University of Central Florida library collections and online databases including PsycINFO, Business Source Premier, ABI/INFORM Complete, JSTOR, DTIC, and HFES using the keywords *practical drift, procedural drift, high-reliability organizations, human error, workplace accidents, tight-coupling, loose-coupling, interdependence, routine formation, procedural memory, safety climate, team processes, adaptation, adaptive team performance, team performance measurement, shared mental models,* and *coordination* in varying combinations. For the purpose of this research, practical drift was only analyzed in the context of organizations that can be classified as 'high-reliability' due to the particularly destructive nature previously noted; all other literature collected in the search was excluded from this examination, along with other various irrelevant material.

With the information collected, an understanding was developed of practical drift, how it occurs, and its implications. This was then integrated and illustrated in a conceptual model depicting the mediating relationships of shared mental models and coordination on the effect of procedural—practical demand fit and maladaptive violations of procedure. The final step was delineating propositions that reflect the relationships exhibited in the model.

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **Organizational Safety Theories**

Perrow (1984) described high-risk organizations as those that are made up of interdependent, formal systems with the potential for catastrophe in the event of system failure. He posits that these interdependent systems are so complex and intertwined, that operations cannot be monitored with accuracy; a single input can offset chain reactions that quickly disseminate to affect numerous components, making direct cause and effect untraceable. He states bureaucracy as the controlling force in an organization, arguing that a combination of centralization and delegation from upper management is the only effective method in dealing with the complexities of this heavy interdependence. He refers to the disasters that occur because of this structure as 'normal accidents' (Perrow, 1984). In this sense, he refers to 'normal' as natural, rather than usual. He theorizes that normal accidents are a natural byproduct of the high-risk organizational structure, and that they are inevitable because the same effective bureaucratic structure is inherently ineffective in controlling damage as it spreads to contaminate the entire system (Perrow 1984). What Perrow is describing is the tightly coupled nature of high-reliability organizations (Weick, 1987).

The concept of 'coupling' has numerous different connotations across both subjects and disciplines. Loosely coupled systems were first recognized in organizational theory by Glassman (1973) as systems in which variables share weak or few similarities. This was further expanded upon by Weick (1976) as he conceptualized tightly coupled systems as those with variables that are responsive to one another, yet still retain their respective identities. It is

apparent that other researchers may have found these definitions insufficient, because authors seemed to use the phrase incorrectly and by their own discretions (Orton & Weick, 1990). The struggle to grasp a common understanding in the literature led to a comprehensive review by Orton and Weick (1990) in which a more precise explanation and understanding of coupling was formed. They stressed that this concept is more dynamic than the descriptive usages found in various literature. Rather than viewing 'coupling' as a black-and-white scale with 'loose coupling' at one end and 'tight coupling' at the other end, it should be seen more dialectically to account for conditional situations.

In the context of teams, systems are tightly coupled when teams are responsive to each other, yet lack distinctiveness; while loosely coupled teams are both responsive and distinctive. Decoupled systems are

	Responsive	Distinctive
Tightly Coupled	Yes	No
Loosely Coupled	Yes	Yes
Decoupled	No	Yes
Non-Coupled	No	No

Table 1. Team relationship to one another in each system those with distinctive, yet unresponsive teams; and uncoupled systems are those with neither responsive nor distinctive teams. This interpretation of coupling is essential because it incorporates both connectedness and autonomy, while explaining systems as dynamic and not static (Orton & Weick, 1990). The information regarding the characteristics of the teams in these systems is summarized in Table 1. The use

of 'coupling' as a dynamic description is recognized and adopted in the temporal consideration of Snook's (2000) Matrix and in the theory of practical drift in teams. Weick (1987) further expounded the taxonomy of high-risk organizations into highreliability organizations, those that prioritize reliability above all other goals and objectives within the organization. High-reliability organizations (HROs) require supreme efficiency and effectiveness in demanding circumstances in order to prevent catastrophic outcomes (Weick, Sutcliffe, & Obstfeld, 1999). Their operations are highly predictable and effective while balancing a wide range of hazards (Roberts, 1990). A healthy HRO would provide a centralized mental model that interplays with loosely coupled systems to result in this essential efficiency and effectiveness (Weick, 1987).

Technological advancement continuously introduces more complex systems into the workplace. Perrow (1984) advised organizations to discontinue the use of tightly coupled systems in order to accommodate for the limited support that the administration will be able to provide before an influx of normal accidents arises. In summary, the more interwoven the components in a system are, the more likely the system will experience failure; furthermore, the static use of these interdependent systems in non-static environments creates the potential for maladaptation. He stressed that accidents are a function of centralization and bureaucracy in tightly coupled systems (Perrow, 1984). This is contradicted as he argues for centralization because bureaucrats become overwhelmed with decision-making workload (Perrow, 1984). This confounded explanation could indicate the need for a dynamic model that balances the various demands within an HRO. The main contribution of Perrow's (1984) theory is the acknowledgment that this particular organizational structure innately fosters

systems that are bound to have occasional disasters because they do not function well in dynamic environments. Rather than submit to inevitability, the theory of practical drift stresses the importance of improving the design and management of systems to match the dynamic context and lessen the risk of failure (Snook, 2000).

In contrast to Perrow's bureaucratic approach to workplace error, Weick (1987) names the individual and his or her cultural influences as critical to accident avoidance in HROs. He focuses on the error of the individual in the accident process, as well as the influences that affect the individual, whereas Perrow focuses on the initial error and its progression into a disaster. Weick's argument centralizes on the fact that complex systems fail because the individuals operating within them are not complex enough to handle incongruence when it occurs. This can lead to poor decision-making and poor coordination (Weick, 1987). This focus of using personnel to diagnose problems is grasped in this approach toward a theory for practical drift in teams. It is not new practice to explore the people and their influences to explain error in the workplace. Lawton and Parker (1998) posit that unintentional errors are influenced by a lack of skill or information processing. Investigating the variables that influence these errors is a popular topic in realm of safety culture and climate.

#### **Culture/Climate**

Research has shown that safety culture and climate can be very influential to highperforming HROs, and thus exactly what the high-reliability theory is based on (LaPorte, 1996; Matthews, 2005; Roberts, 1990; Rochlin, 1996; Rochlin, LaPorte, & Roberts, 1987). Weick (1987) further endorses that an unhealthy culture can be signified by tightly coupled rule design being mismatched with loosely coupled daily operations. Although safety culture is not an examined variable in this study, it is important to discuss the debate considering the difference between 'safety culture' and 'safety climate'. While some researchers indicate the two synonymously (Flin, Mearns, O'Connor, & Bryden, 2000), climate is more recently referred to separately as the attitudes and perceptions of an organization's safety culture (Wiegmann, Zhang, Von Thaden, Sharma, & Gibbons, 2004). The two terms should be recognized as different, though closely related in that they are positively correlated (Singer, Falwall, Gaba, Meterko, Rosen, Hartmann, & Baker, 2009) and both can be used to indicate the value of safety (Guldenmund, 2007; Mearns, Whitaker, & Flin, 2003; Mohammed, 2003). Safety culture is reflected in safety climate (Chen & Jin, 2013; Melia, Mearns, Silvia, Silvia, & Luisa Lima, 2008); thus, climate is used to assess changes in safety culture (Choudhry, Fang, & Mohamed, 2007; Melia et al., 2008). Due to this relationship, the two terms are often used together by authors, but should not be used interchangeably.

It has been long understood that safety climate increases employee adherence to safety guidelines (Zohar, 1980). The study of safety climate and unsafe behaviors is related to the concept of practical drift, but this investigation shows that the process of practical drift involves much more than employee perceptions affecting maladaptive behaviors. The study of safety climate and unsafe behaviors is related to the concept of practical drift, but this investigation shows that practical drift is much more than employee perceptions leading to unsafe behaviors. Much climate research centralizes on the relationship between safety climate and leadership on safety performance. A relatively new stream of research is based on a multilevel model of safety

climate, including a safety sub-climate in teams (Zohar, 2000, 2003; Zohar, Livne, Tenne-Gazit, Admi, & Donchin, 2007; Zohar & Luria, 2005). This research has found that organizational subclimates are created because policies are variably enforced at supervisory discretion (Zohar & Luria, 2005); therefore suggesting that safety performance in a team's environment is a function of the leader's influence, which is influenced by the leader's supervisor and so on to the source of organizational safety guidelines and culture. This view concentrates on a team's safety subclimate being positively related to employee adherence to written procedures. The theory of practical drift differs in its focus of safety performance by suggesting that adherence to written procedure is influenced by a misfit between the demands of procedure and the demands of the practical environment.

#### **Models of Fit**

Person-environment (P-E) fit models are based on the premise that outcomes are not due to characteristics of the person or features of the environment, but the gap between the two (Edwards & Cooper, 1988). When their relationship is unbalanced, it results in employees' needs not being met or occupational demands not being met (Cooper, Dewe, & O'Driscoll, 2001). This idea behind this theory of 'fit' has been used as a model in organizations such as information and communication technology (Ayyagari, Grover, & Purvis, 2011), virtual organizations (Shin, 2004), and globally dispersed organizations with traveling employees (Ivancevich, Konopaske, & DeFrank, 2003), to study many industrial factors such as satisfaction, commitment, motivation, and stress in their roles of causing strain (Ayyagari et al., 2011; Bretz & Judge, 1994; Hollenbeck, 1989; Ivancevich et al., 2003; Lauver & Kristof-Brown, 2001; Shin, 2004). As stated, the process of practical drift also involves incongruence between two factors to create strain and result in unideal performance; though not between an individual and context, but between protocol and situational context. Setting aside the individual component of P-E fit models, occupational demands are brought into focus.

The job demands—resources model suggests that an imbalance between the demands of a job and the resources available to employees creates job strain that results in poor performance (Bakker & Demoerouti, 2007; Bakker, Demerouti, & Shaufeli, 2003). The effect of this imbalance has also been found to hold true in predicting safety violations and severity of injury (Hansez & Chmiel, 2010; Snyder, Krauss, Chen, Finlinson, & Huang, 2008). Research has established that discrepant job demands and resources can greatly increase job strain, which leads to increased occurrence of accidents and near misses (Turner, Chmiel, & Walls, 2005); though this investigation further dissects job demands to explain practical drift by examining the fit of procedural demands and practical demands.

This idea of 'fit' is similar to the process of practical drift, though a fit model for the coupling demands of procedure and practice has yet to be proposed in the literature. This research contributes the suggestion of a (mis)fit between the demands of written procedure and the demands of practical environment yielding poor safety performance; specifically, prompting the onset of practical drift and leading to dangerous maladaptive violations of procedure.

#### **Violations of Procedure**

There are two types of violations recognized by Reason, Parker, and Lawton (1998). "Routine" violations occur when employees take short-cuts, developing habitual or routine violations; and "situational" violations are a reflection of organizational failures in the form of compensatory behaviors. For example, choosing production over safety would be a routine violation; but compensating for a lack of resources available would be a situational violation. Recent research has revealed the effect of job strain in predicting routine violations and declines in safety performance (Hansez & Chmiel, 2010). This study theoretically infers that if an organizational system remains static, the situational violations caused by that system will also become routine violations as they solidify into a maladapted practice in the process of practical drift (Snook, 2000).

The key is to understand that organizational systems are dynamic and change over time; they should not be branded with static procedural demands. The passage of time entails changes in situational demands and shifts in cognition (Burke et al., 2006; Snook, 2000). Therefore, the misfit between the tightly coupled rules set in place by the organization and the loosely coupled demands of the practical environment emerges as the steering force behind practical drift.

#### Adaptation

It is common practice in organizations, especially HROs, to structure goal achievement in interdependent teams, rather than in individuals, effectively creating tightly coupled systems. Working in teams inherently grooms adaptive behavior in organizations because the catalog that an individual pulls from when acting in unpredictable scenarios is multiplied by the amount of members in the team (Zaccaro & Bader, 2003). At the same time, the number of possible actions and outcomes is also increased. Recalling the definition of practical drift, the unintended systematic adaptation of practice from written procedure (Snook, 2000), it is a clearly described

as an adaptive process. Burke and colleagues (2006) established a model of team adaptation and define the process as "a change in team performance ... which leads to a functional outcome for the entire team". Because practical drift does not lead to functional outcomes, it is described as a maladaptation. This model (Figure 2) is one of the most established and highly cited models of team adaptation. As explained, practical drift is stimulated by the need for adaptation in practice; this makes it extremely more dangerous in HROs because their static, tightly coupled teams do not allow effective team adaptation without leading to dysfunctional operations across the organization (Snook, 2000; Weick, 1987). The Burke and colleagues (2006) input-



Figure 2. Input-Throughput-Output Model of Adaptive Team Performance (Burke et al., 2006).

throughput-output model of team adaptation serves as a framework to display where adaptation can go wrong in the form of practical drift and the effects that it has; demonstrating the dynamic, multiphasic process over time and the appropriate emergent states elicited. This study proposes that the process of practical drift lies within ineffective processes of the adaptive cycle. The investigation of this theory begins by examining shared mental models, team situation assessment, and the core process of coordination.

There are a few important factors that affect adaptive performance; and inversely, maladaptive performance in the form of practical drift. Marks and colleagues (2000) uncover the importance of shared mental models in testing the effectiveness of action teams in various performance conditions. As stated earlier, the effectiveness of action teams is a product of dynamic adaptation to performance conditions as they change (Coovert et al., 1996; Kozlowski et al., 1996; Marks et al., 2000). The findings of Marks and colleagues (2000) help support the idea that ineffective shared mental models lead to maladaptive behaviors in the process of practical drift in teams.

#### **Shared Mental Models and Team Situation Awareness**

The first phase of team adaptation is *situation assessment*. This process involves scanning the operative environment for potentially relevant happenings that could potentially affect team performance (Burke et al., 2006). Team members scan for and recognize signals that could negatively impact team performance, and then ascribe meaning to them based on their established memory and acumen (Burke et al., 2006; Salas, Rosen, Burke, Goodwin, & Fiore, 2006). In other words, whether or not events are considered potentially relevant depends on

previous experience with analogous events. Communicating to the rest of the team the recognized cues and their meanings is what results in team shared mental models (Burke et al., 2006). Shared mental models give teams the ability to sense and manage unexpected situations collectively (Uitdewilligen, Waller, & Zijlstra, 2010). The cue sparking practical drift is conceptualized as the difference between procedural demands and the demands of everyday practice; specifically, tightly coupled teams operating with demands that do not require such tight coupling. The maladaptive process of practical drift is then set in motion and ultimately entails teams pragmatically adapting practice to the less-demanding situation at hand (Snook, 2000).

Cue recognition involves constantly scanning for and recognizing cue patterns that prompt a need for change in the current situation (Stagl, Burke, Salas, & Pierce, 2006). Meaning ascription to this cue involves deciding how to respond; it is the trigger that sets off adaptation (Cannon-Bowers, Tannenbaum, Salas, & Volpe, 1995). Adaptation occurs because unstable situations breed the need for change. In practical drift, teams expel unnecessary procedures and replace them with more efficient methods of goal completion (Snook, 2000). The failure in this phase is that the adaptive response is not communicated to the other organizational members, a necessary action for efficient adaptation (Burke et al., 2006; Snook, 2000). Each individual in the team may go through this process in different ways and at different times, but each thinks, feels, and acts on the disposition that all members are thinking, feeling, and acting as a single unit. This ununiformed process in a maladaptive team leads to individual, unshared mental models; but dangerously, each member perceives them to be shared. Discordant teams that do not have a shared mental model will not properly develop synthesized problem models (Artman, 2000). Problem models refer to a team's shared cognitive model of awareness, understanding, solutions, and consequences of potential and current problems (Orasanu, 1990, 1994). This lack of shared understanding leads to a lack of team situation awareness, given that the roles, procedures, and available resources are actually being perceived differently per individual (Burke et al., 2006; Salas, Prince, Baker, & Shrestha, 1995).

*Proposition 1*: The coupling misfit of procedure and practice is negatively related to shared mental models in the cycle of practical drift in teams of high-reliability organizations.

*Proposition 2*: Shared mental models are positively related to team situation awareness in the cycle of practical drift in teams of high reliability organizations.

*Proposition 3*: Shared mental models and team situation awareness are negatively related to maladaptive violations in the cycle of practical drift in teams of high-reliability organizations.

The second phase of team adaptation is *plan formulation*. After assessing the situation in the adaptive cycle, teams go into a process of setting goals, structuring action plans, and identifying potentially influential factors (Burke et al., 2006). The quality of plan formulation is

largely affected by the emergent states resulting from Phase I. A lack of shared mental models and team situation awareness obstructs structuring and planning because all team members are working from different vantage points (Burke et al., 2006). As stated, it is characteristic of HROs to have statically, tight-coupled teams (Perrow, 1984; Weick, 1987). The action of just one team has the potential to result in catastrophic failure for the entire organization, as the actions of teams are so interwoven. Each individual's perception creates a shared mental model that directs plan formulation towards the achievement of shared goals (Endsley, 1995). A shared mental model that has been tainted with the negative effects of Phase I will carry over to decrease the quality of plan formulation, and further decrease shared mental models and team situation awareness.

In order to successfully complete the following step of strategy development, the team's purpose must be clearly defined and agreed upon (Marks, Mathieu, & Zaccaro, 2001; Rosen, Bedwell, Wildman, Fritzsche, Salas, & Burke, 2011). Mission analysis involves the formulation, planning, and evaluation of the team's mission. This includes identifying goals that fall in line with the mission and the resources available to achieve these goals and the mission, as well as being aware of influential environmental circumstances (Fleishman & Zaccaro, 1992; Marks et al., 2001; Prince & Salas, 1993). This is an attitude-based teamwork competency that requires member synchronization to complete tasks by integrating resources, responses, and actions (Guzzo, Yost, Campbell, & Shea, 1994). Failures in these integrations decrease shared mental models and ultimately end in disasters for team effectiveness, rooted in the maladaptation of practice known as practical drift (Marks et al., 2001; Snook, 2000).

Effective strategy development includes developing multiple plans of action using problem solving and analytical reasoning to properly prepare for any course of events in the achievement of each goal (Gladstein, 1984; Hackman, 1983; Hackman & Oldham, 1980; Marks et al., 2001; Prince & Salas, 1993). Effectively developing strategies that integrate task completion among teams entails assigning specific roles to each member to achieve a common goal, and that failure to do so results in poor team performance (Cannon-Bowers et al., 1995; Marks, et al., 2001; Stout, Cannon-Bowers, Salas, & Milanovich, 1999; Weldon, Jehn, & Pradham, 1991). A team that is not developing effective strategies may not share a common plan of action or guidelines enforcing obedience to the strategy, as well as a common awareness of situational risks. In the event of an emergency, effective strategy development is crucial to successful team performance (Stout et al., 1999). The level of effectiveness in this stage affects the team's shared mental models of goal achievement strategy and shared awareness of the situation. It is apparent that the failure to establish shared mental models and team situation awareness can carry over throughout the phases of adaptation, but also has the potential to go awry at any stage.

#### Coordination

The *plan execution* phase of team adaptation involves a concurrent mix of individuallevel and team-level processes that interplay to achieve shared goals. The successful coordination of these processes is essential to create effective team adaptation (Burke et al., 2006). In the same light, the disorder of these processes has the potential to result in maladaptive violations of procedure. Referring back to Snook's (2000) Matrix, the advancement from

25

quadrant 3 to quadrant 4 marks the slim potential of an accident to occur actually doing so. This means a team is faced with the task of assuming how others will behave in this unfamiliar situation; and if the wrong assumption is made, disaster will result (Snook, 2000; Stolte et al., 2010).

Within the past thirty years, there has been an increasing amount of theoretical models centralizing on team processes as the foundation of team effectiveness (Gist, Locke, & Taylor, 1987; Guzzo & Shea, 1992; Hackman, 1983; LePine, Piccolo, Jackson, Mathieu, & Saul, 2008; Marks et al., 2001). The processes that are both noted in the literature to enable effective coordination and affect practical drift in teams are mutual performance monitoring with backup behavior, systems monitoring, and communication (Brannick, Prince, Prince, & Salas, 1992; Brannick, Roach, & Salas, 1993; Burke et al., 2006; Cannon-Bowers et al., 1995; Dickinson & McIntyre, 1997; Fleishman & Zaccaro, 1992; Gladstein, 1984; Hackman, 1983; Hackman & Oldham, 1980; Kozlowski, Gully, Nason, & Smith, 1999; Marks et al., 2001; Prince & Salas, 1993; Rosen et al., 2011; Snook, 2000; Stout et al., 1995). Each of these processes plays a unique role in team coordination and practical drift in teams.

### Mutual monitoring and backup behavior

Mutual performance monitoring is an individual-level cognitive process that involves actively monitoring oneself, as well as other team members, in effort to prevent and discontinue performance errors (Burke et al., 2006, McIntyre & Salas, 1995). Mutual performance monitoring aids the effort of team coordination by allowing team members to recognize potential obstacles impeding each other's performance and therefore, of the team as a whole (Rosen et al., 2011). A team member who is participating in mutual performance monitoring can recognize when fellow team members need assistance and how to best assist them in fulfilling task requirements (Marks & Panzer, 2004). When a team member aids or assumes the responsibility of another team member, it is referred to as backup behavior.

Team members participating in backup behaviors are actively monitoring the status of their team and are able to identify situations in which other team members need assistance to complete taskwork. Backup behaviors can include giving feedback to team actions, and assisting in or completing the task work of a fellow team member (Dickinson & McIntyre, 1997; Marks et al., 2001). Effective team monitoring and backup behavior requires all team members to be familiar with each other's roles and responsibilities in order to identify how to provide assistance when necessary, made possible by a healthy team situation awareness (Marks et al., 2001). This means that team members should provide checks and balances, stepping in when necessary.

The critical danger of practical drift is its latency, as it often remains unnoticed until disaster strikes (Snook, 2000; Stolte et al., 2010). Team monitoring may be the most efficient way to notice a drift from designed procedure and eliminate it, because these members know exactly what each team member should be doing and how to fix it when they are not; this indicates that the level of team monitoring and backup behavior can be used to reduce the maladaptive behaviors of practical drift.

27

#### Systems monitoring

This variable was added in the expansion of the model of adaptive team performance by Rosen and colleagues (2011). Fleishman and Zaccaro (1992) have done extensive research on the crucial process of systems monitoring in team performance. Systems monitoring is a team processes that involves actively monitoring the internal and external systems of a team. Monitoring the internal systems involves keeping track of the resources available to the team, such as equipment, personnel, and relevant information related to team function. Lautman and Gallimore (1987) found that 70% of airplane crashes are rooted in the poor management of team resources. Monitoring external systems is actively scanning for and tracking potentially influential environmental conditions that are relevant to team functioning (Marks et al., 2001; Fleishman & Zaccaro, 1992).

The active scanning involved in systems monitoring enforces members' awareness of each other's actions, resources, and environmental influences, adding to team situation awareness. Systems monitoring ensures the team is adequately prepared for any situation, as well as the status of the team at all times; both of these issues are at the core of practical drift (Fleishman & Zaccaro, 1992; Snook, 2000). Teams efficient in systems monitoring are more likely to recognize when a system is not functioning properly and are collectively aware of the situation and how to fix it. Recognizing failing components in a system and assuring preparation for emergency events are key actions that could reduce the potential for maladaptation in teams, as well as the accidents that can result from practical drift.

#### Communication

Communication is another essential role in the adaptive process. It is the medium of knowledge sharing between team members and is absolutely necessary for the effectiveness of monitoring behaviors (Burke et al., 2006). It is used to share potential issues and other voluntary information with each other and between teams, as well as the understanding of these messages (Fleishman & Zaccaro, 1992; Smith-Jentsch, Johnson, & Payne, 1998; Stagl et al., 2006). Poor communication is often the factor that gets the most attention when searching for a reason for the tragedies incurred from practical drift. Without discounting its role in the processes, communication should be recognized as a single component in coordination of a team. All three of these processes are vital to successful team coordination and show the potential to decrease maladaptive behaviors in the process of practical drift.

*Proposition 4*: The coupling misfit of procedure—practice demands is negatively related to coordination in the cycle of practical drift in teams of high-reliability organizations

*Proposition 5*: Coordination is negatively related to maladaptive violations in the cycle of practical drift in teams of high-reliability organizations.

#### Shared Mental Models, Team Situation Awareness, and Coordination

The three previous processes enable effective coordination in teams, permitting successful plan execution (Burke et al., 2006; Rosen et al., 2011). Teams in HROs critically

depend on each other for task completion and goal achievement, often to the crux of survival. As members' tasks become increasingly contingent on each other, the need for coordination increases correspondingly (Tesluk et al., 1997). Concise coordination and cooperation within a team is extremely influential to team performance, as well as to team training (Klein, Feltovich, Bradshaw, & Woods, 2005). In conducting a task analysis, the basis of all team training, Salas and Cannon-Bowers (2000) recognized the particular importance of "coordination-intensive" tasks in effective teams. It is no question the role that coordination plays in team functioning.

Failures in coordination have played a role in past instances of practical drift, including the 1980 failed Iranian hostage rescue (Allard, 1990) and the 1983 bombing of Marine barracks in Beirut (Ryan, 1985). Both instances were the result of friendly fire, and were discussed in Snook's (2000) publication of the matching title. Allard (1980) and Ryan (1985) both indicate that these avoidable events were preceded by a lack of coordination. In 1999, the Mars Climate Orbiter disintegrated upon entering Earth's atmosphere due to failed coordination between teams using incompatible measurement tools in software design, causing the Orbiter to enter at a miscalculated angle (Sauser, Reilley, & Shenhar, 2009). These interdependent teams were not well coordinated, so they did not have a shared understanding of their roles, and thus were unaware of the dangerous situation they created. This evidence shows the implication of poor coordination on decreased shared mental models and poor team situation awareness.

Shared mental models have also been theorized to facilitate coordination efforts in counter-terrorism operations and crisis response teams (Fiore, Jentsch, Bowers, & Salas, 2003). Shared mental models have been suggested to play a role in a cockpit crew's ability to fly safely

under situational pressures and unideal conditions (Cannon-Bowers, Salas, & Converse, 1990). The Burke and colleagues (2006) model of adaptation also supports this relationship, positing that shared mental models leads to team situation awareness, which collectively enhance coordination; and efficient coordination results in strengthened shared mental models and team situation awareness.

*Proposition 6*: Shared mental models and team situation awareness are positively correlated with coordination in the cycle of practical drift in teams of high-reliability organizations.

### DISCUSSION

Results from this literature review fill a gap in organizational research by identifying variables in the cycle of practical drift in teams of HROs, providing explanations of how each variable affects the process. These findings were used to construct an introductory model representing measurable variables in the process of practical drift in teams (Figure 3).



Figure 3. The proposed Model of Practical Drift in Teams of high-reliability organizations

The model embodies the continuous, sequential cycle that characterizes practical drift in a model of fit that utilizes the input-mediator-output-input style (Ilgen, Hollenbeck, Johnson, & Jundt, 2005; Snook, 2000). The cycle begins with a misfit of coupling demands of written procedure and coupling demands of the team's practical environment, leading to maladaptive violations of procedure, and subsequent error. This relationship is mediated by shared mental models, team situation awareness, and coordination; which show a mutual positive effect on one another. It also shows shared mental models leading to team situation awareness. The cycle then restarts with the overcorrection of policies in reaction to the error, recreating tightly coupled rules that are not in concert with the loosely coupled reality.

### CONCLUSION

Accidents caused by practical drift often leave people void of a compelling explanation; wondering, "how did this happen?" when hindsight shows that the signs were there all along. The goal of this research was to theorize where to look for these signs in teams. This investigation drew upon relevant literature to compose a theoretically based rationale in hopes of generating a better understanding of the variables involved in the process of practical drift in teams, and to set the groundwork for future research seeking to predict its occurrence. The resulting model should serve as groundwork for future research to expand upon and modify as more discoveries are made.

The model of practical drift in teams is not intended to be a comprehensive compilation of all variables involved in the process, but to portray a portion of what currently exists in the literature and to provide an introductory investigation to help stimulate research in a much needed area. To compile a more comprehensive literature base, the concept of practical drift was investigated and inferred upon using plausible processes involved such as the phases in routine formation, procedural memory, tight and loose coupling, and the influences of these components. This model is focused on the specific context of high-reliability organizations, and it should not be generalized to any other organizational context without further examination. While the process of practical drift in teams may be similar in other types of organizations, the outcomes have the potential to differ drastically as operations become less risky.

#### **Future Implications**

There is plenty of room for research in the area of practical drift. As previously stated, there is a significant gap in the empirical examination of this phenomenon. This introductory model can be used to develop a better understanding of practical drift in teams and to guide future research in the development of tools that serve to prevent this process in high-reliability organizations. The development of a measurement tool that can predict the likelihood of practical drift in teams would be a suitable continuance to this research.

#### **Secondary Variables**

The model of adaptive team performance includes several secondary variables that were not analyzed in this introductory review that may play a role in the process of practical drift in teams; including job design and various individual characteristics (Burke et al., 2006). Though many studies show inconclusive results in correlating individual differences with safety performance (Bell, 2007; Reason, 2008), some researchers may be interested in investigating individual-level variables to contribute to this team-level model. Recent developments have found significant results in relating personality and safety performance (Christian, Wallace, Bradley, & Burke, 2009; Hogan & Foster, 2013). Grote, Kolbe, Zala-Mezö, Bienefeld-Seall, and Künzle (2010) found that, in part with effective adaptive coordination, heedfulness in pilots makes better cockpit crews, regardless of task load. Self-efficacy has also been shown to result in increased adherence to safety procedures (Chan, Woon, & Kankanhalli, 2005). Other studies have shown that a healthy attention span correlates with better safety and productivity (Pater, 2001). In exploring this realm, it is important for researchers to be mindful of distinguishing accident preventative behaviors from the maladaptive behaviors in the process of practical drift by keeping in mind that practical drift must begin with a misfit between procedural demands and practical demands.

Catastrophic happenings, like all performance outcomes, cannot be attributed to a single source. Technical causes are the most apparent, but latent causes could be the driving attribution (Reason, 2008). This research set out to investigate one of those latent causes, practical drift, to provide a better understanding of the process and to investigate ways to recognize it in a high-reliability organization. A conceptual framework is provided along with testable propositions for future research to build upon, giving practical avenues to develop diagnostic tools that can predict and prevent accidents resulting from drift in high-reliability organizations. By examining the relationships reflected in this model, steps can be taken to prevent the tragic accidents of practical drift, consequentially saving many innocent lives.

#### REFERENCES

- Allard, C. K. (1990). *Command, control, and the common defense*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Artman, H. (2000). Team situation assessment and information distribution. *Ergonomics*, *43*(8), 1111-1128.
- Ayyagari, R., Grover, V., & Purvis, R. (2011). Technostress: Technological antecedents and implications. *Management Information Systems Quarterly*, *35*(4), 831–858.
- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2007). The job demands-resources model: State of the art. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 22, 309-328.
- Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2003). Dual processes at work in a call centre:An application of the job demands-resources model. *European Journal of Work andOrganizational Psychology*, *12*, 393-417.
- Bell, S. (2007). Deep-level composition variables as predictors of team performance: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(3), 595-615.
- Brannick, M. T., Prince, A., Prince, C., & Salas, E. (1992, September). Team coordination:Measuring an elusive construct. Paper presented at the meeting of the Human FactorsSociety, Atlanta, GA.
- Brannick, M. T., Roach, R. M., & Salas, E. (1993). Understanding team performance: A multimethod study. *Human Performance*, 6(4), 287-308.

- Bretz, R. B., & Judge, T. A. (1994). Person-organization fit and the theory of work adjustment:
  Implications for satisfaction, tenure, and career success. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 44(1), 32-54.
- Burke, C. S., Stagl, K. C., Salas, E., Pierce, L., & Kendall, D. (2009). Understanding team adaptation: A conceptual analysis and model. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(6), 1189-1207.
- Cannon-Bowers, J. A., Salas, E., & Converse, S. (1990). Cognitive psychology and team training: Training shared mental models of complex systems. *Human Factors Society Bulletin*, 33(12), 1-4.
- Cannon-Bowers, J. A., Tannenbaum, S. I., Salas, E., & Volpe, C. E. (1995). Defining competencies and establishing team training requirements. In R. Guzzo, & E. Salas (Eds.), *Team effectiveness and decision making in organizations* (pp. 333-380). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Chan, M., Woon, I., & Kankanhalli, A. (2005). Perceptions of information security in the workplace: Linking information security climate to compliant behavior. *Journal of Information Privacy & Security*, 1(3), 18-41.
- Chen, Q., & Jin, R. (2013). Multilevel safety culture and climate survey for assessing new safety program. *Journal of Construction Engineering & Management*, *139*(7), 805–817.
- Choudhry, R. M., Fang, D., & Mohamed, S. (2007). The nature of safety culture: A survey of the state-of-the-art. *Safety Science*, *45*(10), 993–1012.

- Christian, M. S., Bradley, J. C., Wallace, J. C., & Burke, M. J. (2009). Workplace safety: A meta-analysis of the roles of person and situation factors. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94(5), 1103-1127.
- Colombia Accident Investigation Board. (2003). *Report of the Columbia Accident Investigation Board* (Report No. 1). Washington, DC: Government Printing Office and National Aeronautics and Space Administration.
- Cohen, M., & Bacdayan, P. (1994). Organizational routines are stored as procedural memory: Evidence from a laboratory study. *Organization Science*, *5*(4), 554-568.
- Cooper, C. L., Dewe, P., & O'Driscoll, M. (2001). *Organizational stress: A review and critique of theory, research, and applications*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Coovert, M. D., Craiger, J. P., & Cannon-Bowers, J. A. (1996). Innovations in modeling and simulating team performance: Implications for decision making. In R Guzzo & E. Salas (Eds.), *Team effectiveness and decision making in organizations* (pp. 149-203). San Fransisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Dekker, S. (2007). A drift into failure: From hunting broken components to understanding complex systems. Burlington, VT: Ashgate Publishing Company.
- Dickinson, T. L., & McIntyre, R. M. (1997). A conceptual framework for teamwork measurement. In M. Brannick, E. Salas, & C. Prince (Eds.), *Team performance and measurement: Theory, methods, and applications* (pp. 19-43). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Edwards, J. R., & Cooper, C. L. (1988). The impacts of positive psychological states on physical health: A review and theoretical framework. *Social Science & Medicine*, *27*, 1447-1459.
- Endsley, M. R. (1995). Toward a theory of situation awareness in dynamic systems. *The Journal* of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 37(1), 32-64.
- Feldman, M. S., & Pentland, B. T. (2003). Reconceptualizing organizational routines as a source of flexibility and change. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *48*(1), 94-118.
- Fiore, S. M., Jentsch, F., Bowers, C. A., & Salas, E. (2003). Shared mental models at the intraand inter-team level: Applications to counter-terrorism and crisis response for homeland security. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, 47(3), 439-443.
- Fleishman, E. A., & Zaccaro, S. J. (1992). Toward a taxonomy of team performance functions.In R. Swezey & E. Salas (Eds.), *Teams: Their training and performance* (pp. 31-56).Norwood, NJ: Ablex Publishing.
- Flin, R., Mearns., P., O'Connor, P., & Bryden, R. (2000). Measuring safety climate: Identifying the common features. *Safety Science*, 34(1), 177-192.
- Gersick, C. J. G., & Hackman, J. R. (1990). Habitual routines in task-performing groups. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 47(1), 65-97.
- Gist, M. E., Locke, E. A., & Taylor, M. S. (1987). Organizational behavior: Group structure, process, and effectiveness. *Journal of Management*, *13*(2), 237-257.
- Gladstein, D. L. (1984). Groups in context: A model of task group effectiveness. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 29(4), 499-517.

- Glassman, R. B. (1973). Persistence and loose coupling in living systems. *Behavioral Science*, *18*(2), 83-98.
- Grote, G., Kolbe, M., Zala-Mezö, E., Bienefeld-Seall, N., & Künzle, B. (2010). Adaptive coordination and heedfulness make better cockpit crews. *Ergonomics*, *53*(2), 211-228.
- Guldenmund, F. W. (2007). The use of questionnaires in safety culture research An evaluation. *Safety Science*, *45*(6), 723-743.
- Guzzo, R. A., Yost, P. R., Campbell, R. J., & Shea, J. P. (1994). Potency in groups: Articulating a construct. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, *32*(1), 87-106.
- Guzzo, R. A., & Shea, G. P. (1992). Group performance and intergroup relations in organizations. In M. Dunnette & L. Hough (Eds.), *Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology*, 2(3, pp. 269-313). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Hackman, J. R. (1983). A normative model of work team effectiveness (Technical Report No. 2). Arlington, VA: Office of Naval Research.
- Hackman, J. R., & Oldham, G. R. (1980). Work redesign. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Hollenbeck, J. R. (1989). Control theory and the perception of work environments: The effects of focus of attention on affective and behavioral reactions to work. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Process*, 43(3), 406-430.
- International Civil Aviation Organization. (2009). *Safety Management Manual (SMM)* (ICAO Document No. 9859). Retrieved from

 $http://legacy.icao.int/anb/safetymanagement/DOC\_9859\_FULL\_EN.pdf.$ 

- Ilgen, D. R., Hollenbeck, J. R., Johnson, M., & Jundt, D. (2005). Teams in organizations: From input-process-output models to IMOI models. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 56, 517-543.
- Ivancevich, J. M., Konopaske, R., & DeFrank, R. S. (2003). Business travel stress: A model, propositions, and managerial implications. *Work & Stress, 17*(2), 138-157.
- Johnston, N. (2003, April). The paradox of rules: Procedural drift in commercial aviation. In R. Jensen (Ed.), Proceedings of the Twelfth International Symposium on Aviation Psychology, Dayton, OH.
- Klein, G., Feltovich, P. J., Bradshaw, J. M., & Woods, D. D. (2005). Common ground and coordination in joint activity. In W. Rouse & K. Boff (Eds.), *Organizational simulation* (pp. 139-184). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Interscience.
- Kozlowski, S. W. J., Gully, S. M., McHugh, P. P., Salas, E., & Cannon-Bowers, J. A. (1996). A dynamic theory of leadership and team effectiveness: Developmental and task contingent leader roles. In G. Ferris (Ed.), *Research in personnel and human resources management*, 14 (pp. 253-305). London, England: Jai Press.
- Kozlowski, S. W. J., Gully, S. M., Nason, E. R., & Smith, E. M. (1999). Developing adaptive teams: A theory of compilation and performance across levels and time. In D. Ilgen & E. Pulakos (Eds.), *The changing nature of work performance: Implications for staffing, motivation, and development* (pp. 240-292). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- LaPorte, T. R. (1996). High reliability organizations: Unlikely, demanding and at risk. *Journal of Crisis and Contingency Management*, *4*(2), 60-71.

- Lautman, L. G., & Gallimore, P. L. (1987, April-June). Control of the crew caused accidents: Results of a 12-operator survey. *Airliner*. Seattle, WA: Boeing Commercial Airplane Co., 1-6.
- Lauver, K. J., & Kristof-Brown, A. (2001). Distinguishing between employees' perceptions of person—job and person—organization fit. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 59(3), 454-470.
- Lawton, R., & Parker D. (1998). Individual differences in accident liability: A review and integrative approach. *The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society*, 40(4), 655-671.
- Leemann, J. E. (2011, August). Practical drift and writing safety rules. *ISHN Magazine*, 45(8), 20-22.
- LePine, J. A., Piccolo, R. F., Jackson, C. L., Mathieu, J. E., & Saul, J. R. (2008). A meta-analysis of teamwork processes: Tests of a multidimensional model and relationships with team effectiveness criteria. *Personnel Psychology*, 61(2), 273-307.
- Macey, G. P. (2011). Environmental crisis and the paradox of organizing. *Brigham Young* University Law Review, 6. 2063-2114.
- Marks, M. A., Mathieu, J. E., & Zaccaro, S. J. (2001). A temporally based framework and taxonomy of team processes. *Academy of Management Review*, *26*(3), 356-376.
- Marks, M. A., & Panzer, F. J. (2004). The influence of team monitoring on team processes and performance. *Human Performance*, *17*(1), 25-41.

- Marks, M. A., Zaccaro, S. J., & Mathieu, J. E. (2000). Performance implications of leader briefings and team-interaction training for team adaptation to novel environments. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85(6), 971-986.
- Matthews, R. B. (2005). Nuclear safety: Expect the unexpected. *Professional Safety*, *50*(12), 20-27.
- McIntyre, R. M., & Salas, E. (1995). Measuring and managing for team performance: Emerging principles from complex environments. In R. Guzzo & E. Salas (Eds.), *Team effectiveness and decision making in organizations* (pp. 149-203). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Mearns, K., Whitaker, S. M., & Flin, R. (2003). Safety climate, safety management practice and safety performance in offshore environments. *Safety Science*, *41*(8), 641–680.
- Melia, J., Mearns, K., Silvia, A., Silvia, M., & Luisa Lima, M. (2008). Safety climate responses and the perceived risk of accidents in the construction industry. *Safety Science*, 46(6), 949–958.
- Mohamed, S. (2003). Scorecard approach to benchmarking organizational safety culture in construction. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, *129*(1), 80–88.
- National Commission on the BP Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill and Offshore Drilling. (2011). Report to the President. *Deep Water: The Gulf Oil Disaster and the Future of Offshore Drilling*. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- Orasanu, J. M. (1990). *Shared mental models and crew decision making*, *46*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University, Cognitive Science Laboratory.

- Orasanu, J. M. (1994). Shared problem models and flight crew performance. In N. Johnston, N.
  McDonald, & R. Fuller (Eds.), *Aviation psychology in practice* (pp. 255-285). Aldershot,
  England: Ashgate Publishing Group.
- Orton, J. D., & Weick, K. E. (1990). Loosely coupled systems: A reconceptualization. *Academy* of Management Review, 15(2), 203-223.
- Pater, R. F. (2001, January). Paying attention leads to better safety, productivity. *Professional Safety*, *46*(1), 53.
- Pentland, B. T., Feldman, M. S., Becker, M. C., & Liu, P. (2012). Dynamics of organizational routines: A generative model. *Journal of Management Studies*, 49(8), 1484-1508.
- Perrow, C. (1984). Normal accidents: Living with high-risk technologies. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Prince, C., & Salas, E. (1993). Training research for teamwork in the military aircrew. In E.Wiener, B. Kanki, & R. Helmreich (Eds.), *Cockpit research management* (pp. 337-366).Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Reason, J. T. (1990). Human error. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Reason, J. T. (2008). *The human contribution: Unsafe acts, accidents, and heroic recoveries.*Burlington, VT: Ashgate Publishing Group.
- Reason, J. T., Parker, D., & Lawton, R. (1998). Organizational controls and safety: The varieties of rule-related behaviour. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 71(4), 289-304.

- Roberts, K. H. (1990). Some characteristics of one type of high reliability organization. *Organizational Science*, 1(2), 160-176.
- Rochlin, G. I. (1996). Reliable organizations: Present research and future directions. *Journal of Crisis and Contingency Management*, 4(2), 55-59.
- Rochlin, G. I., LaPorte, T. R., & Roberts, K. H. (1987). The self-designing high-reliability organization: Aircraft carrier flight operations at sea. *Naval War College Review*, 40(4), 76-90.
- Rosen, M. A., Bedwell, W. L., Wildman, J. L., Fritzsche, B. A., Salas, E., & Burke, C. S. (2011). Managing adaptive performance in teams: Guiding principles and behavioral markers for measurement. *Human Resource Management Review*, 21(2), 107-122.
- Ryan, P. B. (1985). *The Iranian rescue mission: Why it failed*. Annapolis, MD: Naval Institute Press.
- Salas, E., & Cannon-Bowers, J. A. (2000). The anatomy of team training. In S. Tobias & J. Fletcher (Eds.), *Training & retraining: A handbook for business, industry, government,* and the military (pp. 312-335). New York, NY: Macmillian Reference USA.
- Salas, E., Dickenson, T. L., Converse, S. A., & Tannenbaum, S. I. (1992). Toward an understanding of team performance and training. In R. Swezey & E. Salas (Eds.), *Teams: Their training and performance* (pp.3-29). Norwood, NJ: Ablex Publishing.
- Salas, E., Prince, C., Baker, D. P., & Shrestha, L. (1995). Situation awareness in team performance: Implications for measurement and training. *Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society*, 37(1), 123-136.

- Salas, E., Rosen, M., Burke, C. S., Goodwin, G. F., & Fiore, S. (2006). The making of a dream team: When expert teams do best. In K. Ericsson, N. Charness, R. Hoffman, & P. Feltovich (Eds.), *The Cambridge handbook of expertise and expert performance* (pp. 439-453). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Sauser, B. J., Reilly, R. R., & Shenhar, A. J. (2009). Why projects fail? How contingency theory can provide new insights - A comparative analysis of NASA's Mars Climate Orbiter loss. *International Journal of Project Management*, 27(7), 665-679.
- Shin, Y. (2004). A person-environment fit model for virtual organizations. *Journal of Management*, 30(5), 725-743.
- Singer S. J., Falwall, A., Gaba, D. M., Meterko, M., Rosen, A., Hartmann, C. W., & Baker, L. (2009). Identifying organizational cultures that promote patient safety. *Health Care Management Review*, 34(4), 300-311.
- Smith-Jentsch, K. A., Johnson, J. H., & Payne, S. C. (1998). Measuring team-related expertise in complex environments. In J. Cannon-Bowers & E. Salas (Eds.), *Making decisions under stress: Implications for individual and team training* (pp. 61-87). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Snook, S. A. (2000). Friendly fire: The accidental shootdown of U.S. black hawks over northern Iraq. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Stagl, K. C., Burke, C. S., Salas, E., & Pierce, L. (2006). Team adaptation: Realizing team synergy. In C. Burke, L. Pierce, & E. Salas (Eds.), *Understanding adaptability: A*

*prerequisite for effective performance within complex environments* (pp. 117-141). Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier.

- Stolte, W., Vogt, J., & Weber, C. (2010). Controlling practical drift in high reliability organizations. *International Journal of Applied Aviation Studies*, 10(2), 31-49.
- Stout, R. J., Cannon-Bowers, J. A., Salas, E., & Milanovich, D. M. (1999). Planning, shared mental models, and coordinated performance: An empirical link is established. *Human Factors*, 41(1), 61-71.
- Tesluk, P. E., Mathieu, J. E., Zaccaro, S. J., & Marks, M. A. (1997). Task and aggregation issues in the analysis and assessment of team performance. In M. Brannick & E. Salas (Eds.), *Team performance assessment and measurement: Theory, methods, and applications* (pp. 197-225). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Uitdewilligen, S., Waller, M. J., & Zijlstra, F. (2010). Team cognition and adaptability in dynamic settings: A review of pertinent work. In G. Hodgkinson & J. Ford (Eds.), *International review of industrial and organizational psychology*, 25 (pp. 293-253). Chichester, UK: Wiley.
- Uttal, B. (1983). The corporate culture vultures. Fortune, 108, 66-72.
- Weick, K. E. (1987). Organizational culture as a source of high reliability. *California Management Review*, 29(2), 112-127.
- Weick, K. E., Sutcliffe, K. M., & Obstfeld, D. (1999). Organizing for high reliability: Processes of collective mindfulness. In R. Sutton & B. Staw (Eds.), *Research in organizational behavior* (pp. 81-123). Stanford, CA: Jai Press.

- Weldon, E., Jehn, K. A., & Pradham, P. (1991). Processes that mediate the relationship between a group goal and improved group performance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *61*, 555-569.
- Wiegmann, D. A., Zhang, H., von Thaden, T. L., Sharma, G., & Gibbons, A. M. (2004). Safety culture: An integrative review. *The International Journal of Aviation Psychology*, 14(2), 117-134.
- Zaccaro, S. J., & Bader, P. (2003). E-leadership and the challenges of leading e-teams: Minimizing the bad and maximizing the good. *Organizational Dynamics*, *31*, 377-387.
- Zalesny, M. D., Salas, E., & Prince, C. (1995). Conceptual and measurement issues in coordination: Implications for team behavior and performance. *Research in Personnel* and Human Resources Management, 13, 81-115.
- Zohar, D. (1980). Safety climate in industrial organizations: Theoretical and applied implications. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *65*(1), 96-102.
- Zohar, D. (2000). A group-level model of safety climate: Testing the effect of group climate on microaccidents in manufacturing jobs. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85(4), 587-596.
- Zohar, D. (2003). Safety climate: conceptual and measurement issues. In J. Quick & L. Tetrick (Eds.), *Handbook of occupational health psychology* (pp. 123-142). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Zohar, D., & Luria, D. (2005). A multilevel model of safety climate: Cross-level relationships between organisation and group-level climates. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(4), 616-218.

Zohar, D., Livne, Y., Tenne-Gazit, O., Admi, H., & Donchin, Y. (2007). Healthcare climate: A framework for measuring and improving patient safety. *Critical Care Medicine*, 35(5), 1312-1317.